
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
'OUTHERNDISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISION - COL'U3Vll8$ 4

ISAAC SMITH,
c/o Santen Bc I-Iughes LPA
600 Vine Street, Suite 2700
Cincinnati, OH 45202

Plaintiff,

RODKRICK J. MCDAVIS,
JENNY HALL-JONES, and
MARTHA COMPTON,
c/o Office of Legal Affairs
Ohio University
160 West Union Street Office Center
Suite 150
1 Ohio University
Athens, Ohio 45701

Defendants.

)
)

2,-,~4CV-670
) Case No.
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Plaintiff Isaac Smith complains of Defendants and alleges:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. "The vigilant protection of constitutional freedoms is nowhere more vital than in

the community of American schools." Shel/on v Tucker, 364 U.S. 479, 487 (1960).

Accordingly, the United States Supreme StatesUnitedUnitedStatesUnitedare

not enclaves immune from the sweep of the First Amendment." Healy v James, 408 U.S. 169,

180 (1972). Nevertheless, Ohio University ("OU") officials have adopted and enforced a

Student Code of Conduct that, among other vague and overly broad provisions, forbids any "act

that degrades, demeans, or disgraces" another, thus restricting and chilling student speech.

2. This prohibition strikes at the core mission of any university educating students.

Someone could violate this policy for using any language an administrator considers to be



demeaning, degrading or disgraceful. This could include pointing out a logical fallacy in another

student's argument or error in a mathematical problem. Student discussions concerning any of

our country's most pressing political, moral, and social issues could tngger enforcement, were

one participant (or simply someone within earshot) to feel *'degraded, demeaned, or disgraced,"

no matter how unreasonably. Under this subjective, unbounded policy, a debatethis



rhe Univ. of Missouri, 410 U.S. 667 (1973). Far from being trivial, such cases uphold the

principle that it is not a legitimate function of government to enforce what an administrator may

regard as "a suitable level of discourse within the body politic." Cohen, 403 U.S. at 23. In this

case, as implemented and applied, OU's policies violate the well-established rule that "the mere

dissemination of ideas —no matter how offensive to good taste —on a state university campus

may not be shut off in the name alone of 'conventions of decency.'" Papish, 410 U.S. at 670.

5. Accordingly, this is a civil



11. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Southern District of

Ohio pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $ 1391(b)because the events giving rise to the instant claim occurred

we



Plaintiffs constitutional rights to free expression. Defendant Hall-Jones is sued both in her

personal and



19. Plaintiff attached a photograph to the tweet, depicting the back of another student

who was wearing a SDS t-shirt with the slogan "We get you off for free." (See Exhibit A). SDS

began using this slogan in the 1970s
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shirts again because the message did not exhibit professionalism and contained inappropriate

sexual innuendo. Plaintiff responded that the sexual innuendo was "the point," but Defendant

Hall-Jones did not respond favorably or change her directive.

26. Based on this encounter, SDS members stopped wearing the shirts because they

feared that they or the organization would be punished.

27. Specifically, Plaintiff and other members of the group feared that wearing the t-

shirt would leave them subject to discipline under the OU Code of Conduct, which states, in part,

that it is an "offense" to "failI] to comply with legitimate directives of university officials...."

28. Plaintiff, who through his work as a student advocate is well-acquainted with

OU's disciplinary precedents, was concerned that an OU hearing officer would interpret the

statement "I don't want to sce you wearing those again" as an enforceable "directive" under the

Code of Conduct, because a reasonable person would interpret it as a command from a university

official. As an officer of SDS, the Plaintiff is not aware of any instance in which a hearing

officer has found that such a command, or even suggestion, given by a university official was not

"legitimate."

29. The then-Director of SDS, Katlyn Patton, met with Defendant Compton in person

on or about the first week of September 2013.

30. Following that meeting, Patton told SDS members that Compton had raised

concerns about the content of the t-shirts at their meeting and directed SDS members to not wear

them, especially near the Community Standards office or during any SDS functions. Patton

explained that Defendant Compton said the t-shirts were unprofessional and "inappropriate."

Therefore, Patton advised the group not to wear the t-shirts so as to avoid trouble with University

officials.



(2) Continuing Controversy About the T-shirts

31. Following the orientation incident, Defendants Hall-Jones and Compton

repeatedly have criticized the SDS t-shirts and emphasized that Defendant Compton considered

them to be "shocking" and "upsetting."

32. On March 13, 2014, at a meeting between SDS and the Community Standards

Office to introduce new members of SDS, Nick Oleksy, a neiv Assistant Director at the

Community Standards Office, inquired about the status of the t-shirts Plaintiff Smith explained

how the t-shirt had been approved but that the group had subsequently been asked not to wear it.

This prompted Defendant Compton to comment that the shirts objectified women, were sexually

inappropriate, and were "encouraging prostitution."

33. Defendant Compton again told the SDS members present that they should not

wear the t-shirts because of the content of the message.

34. Plaintiff is concerned that Defendant Compton's comments implicate section

A-4(t) of the Student Code of Conduct, which sanctions "any act which demeans, degrades,

disgraces any person[.]"

35. As a direct result of Defendant Hall-Jones's and Defendant Compton's remarks,

Plaintiff and other SDS members have refrained from wearing the t-shhts for fear of being

punished under University policies,

36. Therefore, Plaintiff Smith and other SDS members have curtailed their expressive

activities out of fear of being punished pursuant to policies set forth in the University's Student

Conduct Code.

B. Ohio University's Policy

37. The President of OU appoints Standing Committees, including the Review and

Standards Committee, which advises the Vice President for Student Affairs on the University





45. The OU Student Code of Conduct does not provide standards or definitions to

guide the discretion of the public officials of OU tasked with determining whether a student's

actions or speech can be properly sanctioned.

46. OU public officials are empowered to administer the Student Code of Conduct

arbitrarily or on the



51. The Student Code of Conduct labels "Community Expectations" as a "policy" and

further states: "Students and student organizations of Ohio University accept the responsibility

to abide by all Ohio University policies. Proven failure to meet these obligations will justify

approprtate disciplinary sanctions."

52. By conditioning free speech on "honor[ing] and respect[ing] differences of

culture, lifestyle, and religion" and requiring "continuous acceptance of freedom of ideas and

expression and civility in disagreement," the Commumty Expectations policy has a chilling

effect on Plaintiff Smith's rights, and those of all OU students, to engage freely and openly in

expressive activities. It fuithermore implicf
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VI. CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNTI

As-Applied Violation of Plaintiffs Right to Free Speech Under
the First and Fourteenth Amendments (42 U.S.C. tJ'983)

(Defendants Hall-Jones and Comnton)

57. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegattons in this Complaint.

58. The First and Fourteenth Amendments extend to campuses of state colleges and

universities. Healy v. James, 408 U.S. at 180.

59 The First Amendment allows speakers to choose how they phrase their messages.

The Supreme Court has long recognized that "words are often chosen as much for their emotive

as cognitive force," and that "we cannot indulge the facile assumption that one can forbid

particular words without also running a substantial risk of suppressing ideas in the process"

Cohen, 403 U.S. at 26. The First Amendment forbids the government from censoring speech

based on "personal predilections," and "the State has no right to cleanse the



64. Because Defendants'ctions constituted a callous disregard of established rights,

Plaintiff is entitled to an award of punitive damages against the Defendants for violating his

rights protected by the First Amendment to free expression.

65. Plaintiff is entitled to a declaration that Defendants violated his First Amendment

rights. Additionally, he is entitled to damages in an amount to be determined by the evidence

and this Court, and the reasonable costs of this lawsuit, including his reasonable attorneys'ees.

COUNT II

Facial Challenge to Violation of Right to Free Speech Under the Plaintiff s
First and Fourteenth Amendment Rights (42 U.S.C. tt 1983)

(All Defendants)

66. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations in this Complaint.

67. Defendants may not punish "a 'substantial'mount of protected free speech,

'judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep[]'" Vrrgmia v IIickr, 539 U.S. 113,

118-19 (2003) (citing Broadmck v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 615 (1973)). Any regulation that

does so is invalid "'until and unless a limiting construction or paitial invalidation so narrows it as

to remove the seeming threat or deterrence to constitutionally protected expression[.]'" Id.

68. Code A of the Student Code of Conduct is unconstitutional because it prohibits

"any act which demeans, degrades, disgraces any person." Under the plain language of this

overbroad policy, a student cannot call Bernie Madoff a swindler. Nor could a student complain

about the bad habits of a roommate or point out in class the logical flaws or mistakes in someone

else's presentation.

69. By requiring "continuous acceptance" of "civility," the OU policies stifle robust

debate and disregard the "profound national commitment to the principle that debate on pubhc

issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open." New York Times v Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254,

270 (1964). Furthermore, the policy impermissibly imposes "special prohibitions on those

13



speakers





81. The Student Code of Conduct gives OU officials unbridled discretion to

determine the legitimacy of a colleague's directive and provides no criteria that enable students

to understand what a "legitimate directive" might entail.

82. As a direct result of the Defendants'tudent Conduct Code policies, students at

OU are deprived of their right to free speech under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the

Constitution.

83. As a legal consequence of the Defendants'iolation of Plaintiffs and other

similarly situated students'irst and Fourteenth Amendment rights, as alleged above, which is

irreparable injury per se, Plaintiff is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, damages, and

the reasonable costs of this lawsuit, including his reasonable attorneys'ees.

COUNT HI

Violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment
&Defendants Hall-Jones and Comuton)

84. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations in this Complaint.

85. Defendants'olicies limit constitutionally-protected speech and conduct without

providing any objective guidelines by which Plaintiff or other students can guide their speech

and behavior.

86. Defendants, pursuant to OU policies and practice, violated Plaintiff s right to due

process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution by preventing him

from engaging in expressive activities by instructing him not to wear the SDS t-shirt, threatening

him with disciplinary action, and failing to provide him with notice and an opportunity to be

heard.

87. Because the law is clearly established in this area, and because Defendants had

fair warning that by denying Plaintiff the right to free expression, as well 44 rDg-
/F1 10j
ET
8 205449/F1 10.11 Tf
275.76 93.96 T7722.76(44 rDg-64 fj
E
.44 341.01gj
8 Td09)Tj
ET
Tr
/F1 pe Tf
270.36 122.76 Td
(eich)Tj29BT
3 40
BT
3 Tr16Tf
270.Q
q.36 16 75
BT
3 Tr70.Q
q 61ty





from continued enforcement of Ohio University's unconstitutional policies, monetary damages

are inadequate to remedy their harm, and the balance of equtties and public interest both favor

a grant of injunctive relief.

VII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Isaac Smith respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment

against Defendants and provide Plaintiff the following relief:

A. A declaratory judgment stating that Defendants'peech codes are unconstitutional

facially and as-applied, and that they violate the Plaintiff's rights as guaranteed under the First

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;

B. A permanent injunction restraining enforcement of Defendants'nconstitutional

speech codes and enforcement practices;

C. A declaratory judgment that Defendants'ensorship of Plaintifps expressive

activity violated his First and Fourteenth Amendment rights;

D. Monetary damages in an amount to be determined by the Court to compensate for

the Defendants'ensorship and threat of punishment that chilled Plaintiff s expressive activity;"

E. An award of punitive damages against the Defendants for callously violating

Plaintiff's rights protected by the First Amendment to free expression and the Fourteenth

Amendment right to due process.

F. Plaintiffs reasonable costs and expenses of this action, including attorneys'ees,

in accordance with 42 U.S,C. $ 1988, and other apphcable law; and

G. All other futther relief to which Plaintiff may be entitled.

VIII. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury of all issues properly triable by jury in this action.

18



DATED: July I, 2014

Respectfully submitted,

H. LOUIS SIRKIN
SANTEN 6t HUGHES LPA
600 Vine Street, Suite 2700
Cincinnati, OH 45202
Telephone: (513)
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EXHIBIT B
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Ohio Umversitv & Cammumtv Standards & Code

Community Expectations
OhiO Umversity has long celebrated its commitment to being an academic community. This
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student code of conduct.
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OHIO: Community Standards (Code B Offenses http: //www.ohio.edu/communitystandards/code/codeB.cfm
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Ohio Universitv & Communitv Standards & Code

Code 8 Offenses
A student or student organization found to have violated any of the following offenses will be
subject to a sanction or reprimand or disclpgnary probation. Being under the influence of drugs

and/or alcohol does not diminish or excuse a violation of the student code of conduct.

i. Unauthorized Use of Property or Service - Unauthorized use of property or service or

unauthorized possession of umversity property or the property of any person, orgamzation or
tlus loess,

AL/qvt Us n

Code o Conduc Policies»

Code Df Condpgt

Proceditres n

The Student CendtLCt
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2. Disturbing the Peace - Disturbing the peace and good order of the umversity and surrounding

communities.

3. Failure to Comply - Conduct covered by this offense includes but is not limited to:
a. failure to comply with legitimate directives of university officials (including residence life

staff), law enforcement, or emergency personnel in the performance of their duties (e.g.
fagure to identify one's self when so requested);
b. violation of the terms of a disciplinary reprimand.

4. Unauthorized Use of University Keys or Other Access Devfces - Unauthorized use, distribution,

duphcatlon or possession of any key or other access device issued for any university buildmg,

structure, room or facility.

5. Mtsuse of Identification - Transferring, lending, borrowing or altering university identification.

6. Possession or Use of Marl)uana - Conduct covered by this offense includes but is not limited to.
a. possession of mari)Mana when such possession would constitute a minor misdemeanor;

b. use of mari)uana;

c. possession of a device (drug paraphernalia) that has been used to ingest marijuana.

7. Unauthorized Use or Alcoholic Beverages - Violation or state law or university regulations ln

accordance with the use or sale of alcoholic beverages.

8. Violation of Rules Regarding Residence Halls and Dfning Fadltttes - Violation or the Ohio

University Housing Contract, Guide to Residential Living or other published rules and regulations of
university residence hails and dintng facitities.

a. Noise

b. Visitation Violation

c. Illegal Items

d. Dining Hall Vlotatlon

e. Empty Alcohol Containers in an Underage Room

f. Throwing Ob)acts/Taking Screens Out of Windows

g. Smoking

h. Pet Visitation Potky

i. Improper Room Change

). Other

9. Aiding or Abetting - Heiping, procuring or encouraging another person to engage In a Code 8
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OHIO: Community Standards iConditions of Sactions http: //www.ohio.edu/communitystandards/code/conditionsofsanction...

BASICS

BASICS is a two-session program, consisting of an initial two-hour assessment session, followed by a

two-week penod of self. monitoring, and finalized in a one. hour feedback session. It


